IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL JAMES TILLMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NUMBER: 2010-TS-01252

DAVID D. MITCHELL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPEAL

(WITH CORRECTED REFERENCES TO RECORD EXCERPTS)

GLENDA F. FUNCHESS ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT **POST OFFICE DRAWER 1728** HATTIESBURG, MS 39403 (601) 545-2950, EXT. 2608 MS BAR NO.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL JAMES TILLMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NUMBER: 2010-TS-01252

DAVID D. MITCHELL

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST EXISTED BETWEEN THE APPELLANT TILLMAN AND APPELLEE MITCHELL?
- (2) WHETHER APPELLANT MET HIS BURDEN OF PROOF OF CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST EXISTED BETWEEN HE AND APPELLEE?
- (3) WHETHER APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO THE REFUND OF MONIES PAID TO APPELLEE UNDER THE PRESUMPTION THAT THERE EXISTED AN AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE OF PROPERTY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

This case involves an appeal from a decision rendered by the Chancery Court of the Tenth Judicial District of Forrest County, Mississippi. Appellant Michael James Tillman had filed an action against his brother Appellee, David D. Mitchell, for establishment of a constructive trust. At the conclusion of the testimony, the Court announced that it did not find that a constructive trust existed. Further, the Chancellor found that Appellee David D. Mitchell was entitled to \$4,200.00 on his counterclaim which represented rent in the amount of \$300.00 per month for the period covering May 1, 2009 through June 1, 2010.

Course of Proceeding and Disposition in Court and Administrative Hearing Below:

This case is before this Court on an appeal filed by Appellant, Michael James
Tillman, from an adverse ruling by the Chancellor of Forrest County, Mississippi.
Counselor for Appellant Tillman filed an Amended Pleading for Petition to Establish
Constructive Trust against Appellee David M. Mitchell. Alternatively, Appellant
Tillman requested that he be reimbursed all expenses related to the purchase of the
property. Counselor for Appellee Mitchell filed an Answer and Counterclaim seeking
twelve (12) months of rent from Appellant Tillman in the amount of \$300.00 per month
for a total sum of \$3,600.00. Appellee David M. Mitchell also requested that the Court
remove Appellant Tillman from the property. Appellee Mitchell had previously filed an
action on August 11, 2009, in the Justice Court of Forrest County to remove Appellant
Tillman from property. Counselor for Appellant Tillman responded to Appellee

Mitchell's Counterclaim by filing an Answer to the counterclaim. Hearing was scheduled and heard before the Court on June 17, 2010.

On June 30, 2010, the Chancellor entered an Order and Final Judgment finding that Appellant Michael James Tillman had "failed to put forth evidence to establish a constructive trust." Said Chancellor also granted Appellee David D. Mitchell a judgment in the amount of \$4,200 of rent which covered the period from May 1, 2009 through June 1, 2010. Counselor for Appellant Tillman filed his appeal to this Honorable Court on July 29, 2010. The Court on July 30, 2010, entered an Order to Correct and Clarify Final Judgment. In this Order, the Court stated the following "[T]hat based on the evidence the Court is not convinced of an agreement between the parties which would require establishment of a constructive trust to carry out their intention, and therefore, the relief sought in the Amended Petition to Establish Constructive Trust is hereby denied." The prior relief granted to Appellee Mitchell for \$4,200.00 remained in effect.

It is from the decisions of the Chancellor of Forrest County, Mississippi that Appellant Michael James Tillman timely filed his appeal to this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant, Michael James Tillman, filed an action in Chancery Court in Forrest County, Mississippi to establish ownership to a parcel of land that he maintains he owns. Appellee Mitchell was only to hold said property in trust until such time as Appellant had repaid the purchase price of \$5,000.00 plus \$400.00 for back rent. The purchase by Appellee Mitchell was necessary because Appellant Tillman was unable to

pay cash to the seller, Ms. Cole, for the purchase of the property. However, his brother, Appellee David D. Mitchell, maintains that he is the owner of said parcel of land and said property should remain titled in his name because Appellant Tillman did not pay him the full purchase price for the property.

When, Appellee Mitchell purchased the property from seller, he did not, initially, advise his brother, Appellant Tillman, that he was charging him more than the \$5,000.00 selling price. Prior to the sell of the property, Appellee Mitchell had a discussion with the property seller, Nancy Cole, who advised him that she was selling the property in question for \$5,000.00 for the benefit of Appellant. Ms. Cole testified that this information was told to Appellee Mitchell because she believed the property was worth more than \$5,000.00. The reason Ms. Cole sold the property for less was because Appellant Tillman and his wife had lived on the property for years and took care of same.

Two (2) years after the transaction, Appellee Mitchell presented in writing the terms of the purchase to Appellant Tillman. Said terms were paid \$300.00 per month for 48 months or \$200.00 for 60 months. Appellant Tillman paid \$300.00 per month until such time as he believed he had paid the amount paid to Ms. Nancy Cole for the property. Appellee Mitchell has maintained that since the terms set forth two (2) years after the transaction had not been adhered to, that he is still the rightful owner of the property and was owed money for the time that Appellant had lived on the property. The Court granted Appellee Mitchell rent from May 1, 2009 until June 1, 2010. Appellee Mitchell maintains that no constructive trust exist. Both parties testified that they trusted

the other.

FACTS

Appellant Michael James Tillman sued in the Chancery Court of Forrest County, Mississippi for land that he maintains he is the actual owner. (T.5) (R.11-66) Appellant Tillman was renting the property from Nancy Cole and her husband. The testimony of Ms. Cole, who knew both Appellant Tillman and his brother, Appellee, Mitchell, was that after her husband's death, she told Appellant Tillman that she had decided to sell the property. According to Ms. Cole, Appellant Tillman asked how much was she selling the property and if he could purchase same? Ms. Cole stated that Appellant Tillman told her that he believed his brother would purchase the property for him because he would be unable to obtain a loan because of his work history. Ms. Cole agreed to sell the property to Appellant Tillman for \$5,000.00. She testified that she was aware that the property and house were worth more but she was losing money by having to pay the taxes and maintain the insurance on the property. (T.6-9)

Ms. Cole testified that she spoke with Appellee David D. Mitchell regarding the property. She testified that she told Appellee Mitchell that she was selling the property for \$5,000.00 for the benefit of Appellant Tillman. Ms. Cole agreed to sell a separate parcel of land to Appellee Mitchell for him to build a house. However, she was clear that she was selling the first parcel of land at the price of \$5,000.00 for the benefit of Appellant Tillman. Although the property would be titled in Appellee Mitchell's name, according to Ms. Cole, Appellee Mitchell acknowledged that he understood. "David, I'm selling the place to your brother." He said, "I understand, Ms. Cole. When he pays

me, I will sign the deeds over to him. (T.9-11)

Ms. Cole stated that someone else had an interest in purchasing the property but she did not discuss this any further with that individual. Appellee Mitchell paid the \$5,000.00 for the first parcel of land as well as \$400.00 owed by Appellant Tillman in back rent. When asked if Appellant Tillman had paid rent every month, Ms. Cole stated that he had. Ms. Cole stated that Appellant Tillman told her that he thought his brother had purchased the property earlier and therefore, he did not know that the rent was owed. (T.12-13,26-27,30-32)

Ms. Cole prepared a letter dated April 17, 2009, stating that she had agreed to sell the \$5,000.00 parcel of land to Appellee Mitchell. Ms. Cole stated that she had her daughter to draft the letter and she signed it. Ms. Cole also acknowledged executing the warranty deed to Appellee Mitchell to the property. (T.11-12,14,59-60) (R.25,83)

Appellant Tillman testified that he had been residing at the property for fifteen (15) years. Of the fifteen (15) years, ten (10) of those years, he was renting the property. Appellant Tillman testified that in 2005, Ms. Cole advised him that she would allow him to purchase the property that he had been renting from her for \$5,000.00. However, Ms. Cole was not willing to finance the property. Appellant Tillman stated that he first attempted to obtain the money from his sister, who is an attorney in Baton Rouge, Louisiana. (T.15-16)

Appellant Tillman stated that his sister advised him that because she was handling a lawsuit for him that she could not loan him the money. Appellant Tillman stated that his sister suggested that he contact his brother, Appellee Mitchell. Appellant

Tillman testified that he asked Appellee Mitchell if he could borrow the money and if he would handle the business regarding the sell of the property because he felt his brother, Appellee Mitchell, had more business sense. Appellant Tillman, who only completed the eighth grade and reading and writing skills were described as fair had faith in Appellee Mitchell handling the property matter because he graduated from college. (T.16-17,89)

Appellant Tillman testified that Appellee Mitchell stated that Ms. Cole wanted \$5,400.00 for the property. Appellant Tillman stated that he told Appellee Mitchell that he would repay him the \$5,400.00. According to Appellant Tillman, he told Appellee Mitchell that he would repay the money at the rate of \$300.00 per month. Appellant Tillman started paying the \$300.00 per month in the month of December 2005 until April 2006 when he had a heart attack. Appellant Tillman testified that he reinstated his \$300.00 per month payment in May 2006; although Appellee Mitchell did not purchase the property until June 2006. Appellant Tillman testified that he begun paying Appellee Mitchell in December 2005, because he thought the property had been purchased from Ms. Cole in November 2005, and that is why he stopped paying Ms. Cole rent. (T.18-20,25,29)

Appellant Tillman stated that he paid Appellee Mitchell in cash until May 2006, when he asked him about the deed of trust. Appellant Tillman testified that when Appellee Mitchell told him that he did not have to give him a deed, he started keeping receipts of his payments. In a letter dated May 12, 2007, Appellant Tillman testified that he received a lease agreement from Appellee Mitchell that he was to pay him \$300.00

per month for a total of 48 months. The amount total over \$14,000.00, which did not include the money he had already paid Appellee Mitchell. Appellant Tillman stated that the terms set forth in the letter dated May 12, 2007, came some two (2) years after he and Appellee Mitchell had spoken with Ms. Cole, was not the agreement between he and Appellee Mitchell. (T.19-22,27-29,87) (R.26,74,84)

Appellant Tillman stated that he paid Appellee Mitchell all the money he owed him according to the original agreement. Once he had repaid the \$5,400.00, Appellant Tillman testified he stopped paying Appellee Mitchell. Appellee Mitchell advised Appellant Tillman that he was paying off a loan. Appellant Tillman stated that he responded to Appellee Mitchell's May 12, 2007, letter and asked for verification that he was paying off a loan. Appellant Tillman stated that he has never received a response from Appellee Mitchell to his letter. At the time, Appellant Tillman stopped paying Appellee Mitchell, he had paid approximately \$10,000.00. (T.29-30,32-33)

Appellant Tillman testified that Appellee Mitchell advised him that he need to pay the taxes for 2007 on the property. Taxes for the years 2008 and 2009 have not been paid. Appellant Tillman stated that the property is in disrepair and he is unable to purchase insurance or get any assistance because he is not able to provide any documentation that he was the owner of the property. Appellant Tillman stated that Appellee Mitchell has not been to the property and has not made any repairs to the property. (T.22-24) (R.26,74-75)

Mary Tillman, the wife of Appellant Tillman, testified that she and Appellant Tillman had lived on the property since 1997, and that Ms. Cole offered to sell the

property to them for \$5,000.00. Mrs. Tillman and Appellant Tillman were paying rent to Ms. Cole in the amount of \$200.00 per month. Because the Tillmans were unable to come up with the cash money to purchase the property, Mrs. Tillman stated she and Appellant Tillman decided to ask his family. Mrs. Tillman stated that Appellant Tillman's sister was asked; however, she did not have the money. According to Mrs. Tillman, Appellant Tillman, over her objection, asked his brother, Appellee Mitchell. Mrs. Tillman stated she objected to asking the Appellee Mitchell because he did not treat Appellant Tillman like he was a brother. (T.34-36)

Mrs. Tillman testified that Appellant Tillman was to repay the \$5,000.00 that was borrowed from Appellee Mitchell. The payments were \$300.00 per month. Mrs. Tillman stated that payments were initially made to Appellee Mitchell in the form of cash and later money orders. Mrs. Tillman stated that often Appellee Mitchell would not provide a receipt even though she purchased a receipt book for Appellee Mitchell. Mrs. Tillman wanted a receipt because she feared Appellee Mitchell was trying to defraud her husband, Appellant Tillman. (T.37-38,41,43-44,48-49) (R.28-52, 91-115)

Testimony was provided by Ronald Johnson. Mr. Johnson stated that he knew Appellant Tillman and Appellee Mitchell. Mr. Johnson stated that Appellant Tillman does not read or write well. He stated that he helped Appellant Tillman with advice and reviewing the documents related to the matter he is in court about. Mr. Johnson's testimony was that Appellant Tillman did not graduate from school; however, Appellee Mitchell graduated from USM and has been involved in a number of business ventures.

Mr. Johnson stated that he has had to review and explain the documents involving this Court proceeding to Appellant Tillman. (T.50-53)

Testimony from Appellee Mitchell was that when Appellant Tillman asked him to purchase the property, he advised him that he did not want to get involved because there were problems with the title to the property. Appellee Mitchell stated that Appellant Tillman told him that Ms. Cole was going to sell the property to someone else if he did not purchase it. According to Appellee Mitchell, Appellant Tillman stated that if he purchased the property, he, Appellant Tillman, would continue to rent it from him. Appellee Mitchell stated that he agreed and paid Ms. Cole \$5,000.00 for the property plus \$400.00 for past due rent. Appellee Mitchell stated that there was no discussion of Appellant Tillman purchasing the property until either late August or early September. Appellee Mitchell testified that the discussion of the purchase of the property took place in his truck in the present of his son. Appellee Mitchell stated that he advised Appellant Tillman that he could purchase the property for the sum of \$250.00 for 60 months, \$300.00 for 48 months or Appellant Tillman could have continued to pay him \$200.00 for rent. Appellant Tillman chose to paid \$300.00 per month. (T.63-65,72-73,87)

Appellee Mitchell introduced a document marked Number 2, dated September 2006, which has the following words written on same "rent purchase." Appellee Mitchell stated that September 2006, is when Appellant Tillman agreed to the purchase terms. Appellee Mitchell testified that Appellant Tillman was consistently late, sometimes as much as four (4) months. Appellee Mitchell stated that he told Appellant Tillman that he had to keep the property clean, purchase insurance and pay the taxes on

the property. Appellee Mitchell stated that Appellant Tillman asked him several times to provide him with the balance as well as the terms and conditions. Appellee Mitchell stated that he provided Appellant Tillman with the agreement which was not challenged until some two (2) years later. During this time, Appellee Mitchell stated that Appellant Tillman continued to make the \$300.00 payment. (T.65-66,80-81) (R.26,74,84,75,85)

Appellee Mitchell stated that Appellant Tillman stopped making payments and is approximately 18 months behind. According to Appellee Mitchell, Appellant Tillman owes \$5,400.00 plus \$1,800.00 in late fees. Appellee Mitchell stated that he paid the taxes in 2007 and Appellant Tillman paid the taxes in 2008. Appellee Mitchell stated that he has not been on the property after he saw old cars and junk in the yard. Appellee Mitchell stated that he did not receive any rent from Appellant for the months of December 2005 to March 2006. Appellee Mitchell is asking the Court for back rent. Appellee Mitchell also stated that he considered the agreement to purchase the property between he and Appellant Tillman terminated. Upon questioning by Appellant Tillman's attorney, Appellee Mitchell stated that he has a Bachelor of Science degree from William Carey College in the field of business administration. He further stated that he was not in the rental property business as some believed. (T.67-69,81) (R.67-73)

Appellee Mitchell was asked if he had purchased a home before. To which, Appellee Mitchell responded, yes. He was asked if he received a deed from the purchase of his home, Appellee Mitchell stated, "[w]hen we bought the property you automatically get a deed. That is right." Appellee Mitchell admitted that he agreed to

purchase the property for Appellant Tillman. His precise statement was, "I told him that I was going to buy this property for my brother." Appellee Mitchell stated that when Appellant Tillman first told him of the amount Ms. Cole was going to sell him the property for, he initially was not interested in purchasing the property. However, when Appellant Tillman approached him the second time regarding the purchase of the property, Appellant Tillman stated did not know who Ms. Cole may sell the property to and where he would live. At this time, Appellee Mitchell agreed to purchase the property. However, there was no written contract between Appellee Mitchell and Appellant Tillman. Appellee Mitchell reason for the delay of entering into a contract with Appellant Tillman when he purchased the property was that he, Appellee Mitchell, did not want to incur any additional legal fees. (T.70-73)

Appellee Mitchell testified that he told Appellant Tillman that this was an opportunity for him to own his home and that he could either pay him \$250.00 per month for five (5) years or \$300.00 per month for four (4) years and that once the payments were made, he would give him, Appellant Tillman, a deed. Appellee Mitchell argues there was an Agreement that was submitted to Appellant Tillman in 2007. However, Appellee Mitchell admitted that the document he provided to Appellant Tillman in 2007 was not signed by neither himself nor Appellant Tillman. As to writing receipts to Appellant Tillman, Appellee Mitchell stated although he did not always write receipts to Appellant Tillman, he kept up with payments in a book at his residence. (T.74-76) (R.26, 31, 34, 36, 38, 74-75, 84)

Appellee Mitchell stated that Appellant Tillman could read and write although he

institutions. Appellee Mitchell further stated that he had not been on the property in question because Appellant Tillman threaten to shoot him. According to Appellee Mitchell, he would allow Appellant Tillman to have the property rather than get shot over it. Appellee Mitchell stated that his sister, who was handling a legal matter for Appellant Tillman, made one (1) payment on behalf of Appellant Tillman in the amount of \$300.00. (T.79-81,83,85) (R.35)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case is a simple one. The issues are simple as well. The Court has to determine whether the Appellant Michael James Tillman has established by clear and convincing evidence the establishment of a constructive trust which requires that there be confidential relationship between the parties. What can be more of a confidential relationship than brothers who resided in the same household and who trusted each other? Appellant Tillman was trying to purchase the property he and his wife had resided upon for years after learning that the owner, Ms. Nancy Cole, was going to sell the property. After Appellant Tillman advised Ms. Cole of his interest in the property, Appellant Tillman first approached his sister for the money to purchase the property because he did not have the cash to pay Ms. Cole for the property. Appellant Tillman's sister referred Appellant Tillman to their brother, Appellee Mitchell. Appellee Mitchell and Ms. Cole had a discussion wherein Ms. Cole stated that she was selling the property at \$5,000.00 for the benefit of Appellant Tillman. This was important because it was clear from Ms. Cole's testimony that she believed the property was worth more than

what she was selling the property.

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