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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in finding that no constructive trust existed between the parties and denying Tillman's claim for reimbursement of money he has paid to Mitchell. Even though Tillman has stated three issues on appeal, the first two are redundant and have been consolidated into the question of whether or not the trial court was correct when it found that, based upon the credible evidence and testimony, Tillman has failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that a constructive trust existed. The court was correct in so finding in that Tillman never had an ownership interest in the property and that Tillman instigated Mitchell's purchase. Tillman has shown no confidential relationship or any abuse thereof.

The second issue is whether Tillman is entitled to reimbursement. The trial court found that Tillman had not paid rent since April 2009, in the house he continues to reside in, and awarded Mitchell Four Thousand Two Hundred (\$4,200) as unpaid rent for the months of May 2009 to June 2010.

The trial court's judgment should be affirmed on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As the issues are restated, there are two issues in this appeal. The first issue is based upon the Chancellor's finding that Tillman failed to meet his burden of proof to show that a constructive trust existed between Tillman and Mitchell. The second issue, assuming the trial court was correct in the first issue, is based upon the Chancellor's finding that Tillman was not entitled to reimbursement of any monies he paid.

7

A "constructive trust" arises by operation of law against one who, by fraud, actual or constructive, by duress or abuse of confidence, by commission of wrong, or by any form of unconscionable conduct, artifice, concealment, or questionable means or who in any way against equity and good conscience either has obtained or holds the legal right to property which he ought not, in equity and good conscience, hold and enjoy. *Union Nat'l Life Ins. v. Crosby*, 870 So.2d 1175, 1179 n. 1 (Miss. 2004). The determination of the existence of a constructive trust is a matter of law and thus subject to *de novo* review. *In re Estate of Hood*, 955 So.2d 943, 945 (Miss. App. 2007). However, where the chancellor has made a findings of fact, the "scope of review of findings of fact is severely limited. Findings of fact made by a chancellor which are supported by credible evidence, may not be set aside on appeal." *Allgood v. Allgood* 473 So.2d 416, 421 (Miss. 1985). Stated another way:

[I]n Mississippi, our standard of review of findings of fact, including those regarding a constructive trust, is limited in that we must not set aside a chancellor's findings of fact so long as they are supported by substantial credible evidence. However, this Court conducts a de novo review of all questions of law. This includes those regarding the applicability of a constructive trust.

In re Administration of the Estate of Abernathy, 778 So.2d 123, 126-127 ¶ 13 (Miss. 2001) (internal citations omitted).

Here, the trial court found that such clear and convincing evidence was not apparent from the testimony and written evidence presented in the case.

ARGUMENT

I. Was the trial court correct when it found that Michael Tillman failed to satisfy his burden of proof to show that a constructive trust existed when his brother David Mitchell purchased the house in which Tillman and his wife were living in and renting from Mrs. Nancy Cole?

The Chancellor was correct when he found, based upon the credible testimony and

evidence presented, that Tillman failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that a

constructive trust existed. To prove that a constructive trust exists, the plaintiff bears the burden to show facts by clear and convincing evidence. *Estate of Abernathy*, 778 So.2d at 128 ¶ 20.

Clear and convincing evidence has been defined as follows:

[T]hat weight of proof which produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, direct and weighty and convincing as to enable the fact[-]finder to come to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts of the case.

Moran v. Fairley, 919 So.2d 969, 975 (¶ 24) (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (quoting Travelhost, Inc. v. Blandford, 68 F.3d 958, 960 (5th Cir.1995)). "Clear and convincing evidence is such a high standard [of proof] that even the overwhelming weight of the evidence does not rise to the same level." Id. (citing In re C.B., 574 So.2d 1369, 1375 (Miss.1990)).

Niebanck v. Block, 35 So.3d 1260, 1264 (Miss. App. 2010). Oral testimony may be provided, but must be received with caution. *Saulsberry v. Saulsberry*, 232 Miss. 820, 100 So.2d 593,600 (1958); *Coney v. Coney*, 163 So.2d 692, 695 (Miss. 1964) (*citing Conner v. Conner*, 238 Miss. 471, 119 So.2d 240 (1960)).

A properly fashioned constructive trust balances inequities that arise where one party, through "fraud . . . duress or abuse of confidence" or other dubious means, acquires title to property that rightfully and equitably belongs to another. *Estate of Abernathy*, 778 So.2d at 127 ¶ 12; *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057, 1064 ¶ 24 (Miss. 2000); *Simmons v. Simmons*, 724 So.2d 1054, 1057 ¶ 7 (Miss. 1998). Where one buys an asset in the name of another, the asset will be deemed held by the record owner in a resulting trust *for the benefit of the person actually advancing the purchase money. Simmons*, 724 So.2d at 1058 (*citing Brabham v. Brabham*, 226 Miss. 165, 172, 84 So.2d 147, 151 (1955)) (emphasis added). When a party urges the court to imply a constructive trust, the court will consider evidence as to the relationship between the parties, their conduct with regard to the purported trust, and parol evidence attesting to the existence of the trust. *Allgood*, 473 So.2d at 421. The party urging the trust carries the burden of showing clear and convincing evidence that the trust exists. *Id*.

Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "[s]ubstantial overreaching or fraud must be shown." *Id. (citing Pitchford v. Howard*, 45 So.2d 142, 147 (Miss. 1950)). "It is the relationship plus the abuse of confidence imposed that authorizes a court of equity to construct a trust for the benefit of the party whose confidence has been abused." *Lipe v. Souther*, 224 Miss. 473, 484, 80 So.2d 471, 475 (1955) (emphasis added), *quoting Summer v. Summer*, 224 Miss. 273, 80 So.2d 35, 37 (1955).

The Chancellor, after hearing testimony and considering other evidence, found that Tillman failed to meet his burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that an implied trust in favor of Tillman arose from Mitchell's purchase of the property from Mrs. Cole. This finding is in line with the Mississippi Court of Appeal's finding in *Estate of Hood*:

Constructive trust is a means by which one who unfairly holds a property interest may be compelled to convey that interest to another to whom it justly belongs. *In re Estate of Horrigan*, 757 So.2d 165, 170(¶ 25) (Miss.1999). "Such a trust arises by implication from the relationship and conduct of the parties and may be established by parol testimony notwithstanding the statute of frauds." *Id.* "It is the relationship plus the abuse of confidence that authorizes a court of equity to construct a trust for the benefit of the party whose confidence has been abused." *Thornhill v. Thornhill*, 905 So.2d 747, 753(¶ 18) (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (*quoting Davidson v. Davidson*, 667 So.2d 616, 620 (Miss.1995)). A constructive trust:

arises by operation of law against one who, by fraud, actual or constructive, by duress or abuse of confidence, by commission of wrong, or by any form of unconscionable conduct, artifice, concealment, or questionable means, or who in any way against equity and good conscience, either has obtained or holds the legal right to property which he ought not, in equity and good conscience, to hold and enjoy.

Sojourner v. Sojourner, 247 Miss. 342, 353, 153 So.2d 803, 807 (Miss.1963) (quoting 54 Am.Jur. Trusts, § 218). "An abuse of confidence within the rule may be an abuse

of either a technical fiduciary relationship or of an informal relationship where one person trusts in and relies upon another, whether the relation is a moral, social, domestic, or merely personal one." *Id.* at 354, 153 So.2d at 807-08. "A confidential relationship within the rule need involve neither a promise for the benefit of another nor an express fiduciary relationship." *Id.*, 153 So.2d at 808.

In re Estate of Hood, 955 So.2d 943, 949 ¶ 21 (Miss. App. 2007).

Tillman cites the cases of *Pitchford v. Howard*, 208 Miss. 567, 45 So.2d 142 (Miss. 1950) and *Russell v. Douglas*, 243 Miss. 497, 138 So.2d 730 (Miss. 1962), in support of his claims. In both cases, the Mississippi Supreme Court found a constructive trust existed. However, both cases are easily distinguishable from the one in which this Honorable Court is now facing.

In *Pitchford*, the widow Pitchford had trouble obtaining additional financing for the home that she was renting to Howard. Howard, who had become a close family friend over the years, proposed that he obtain the loan Pitchford needed based upon his credit. To accomplish this, Howard proposed that Pitchford deed the property to him, that he would obtain the loan and give her funds, and then he would reconvey the property back to her. *Pitchford*, 45 So.2d at 577. Pitchford conveyed the property and Howard was granted the loan. When Howard refused to transfer the property back, Pitchford brought suit asking the court to find a constructive trust. The Mississippi Supreme Court found:

Howard was the moving agent throughout all of the transactions and events of this case. He imposed upon Mrs. Pitchford's trust and confidence in him to persuade her to let him, after much persistence on his part, after overcoming her reluctance, use her property on which to raise money ... and to borrow money on the property by means of which he enabled himself to get a deed from her to it, with the result that he had obtained her property at what will be a net gain to him...

Pitchford, 45 So.2d at 582. In so finding, the Court stated:

Active conduct on the part of the grantee to bring about the conveyance, especially where there is a fiduciary or confidential relationship between him and the grantor, and the grantee's subsequent failure to carry out his agreement or promise to hold in trust for reconveyance, tend to show fraud or bad faith on the part of the grantee, so as to raise a constructive trust. Pitchford, 45 So.2d at 584 (citing Adcock v. Merchants & Manufacturers Bank of Ellisville, MS, 207 Miss. 448, 42 So.2d 427, 430 (Miss. 1949) and 54 Am. Jur., page 179, Section 234).

In *Russell*, Russell's mother made an *inter vivos* conveyance of the property to Russell and reserved a life estate for herself. During the mother's prolonged illness, her sister, Douglas, came to stay and to help. Russell had a house built on the land and he and his wife executed a deed of trust in favor of Deebs Construction Company. Deebs ended up foreclosing on the property but took no further action during the mother's lifetime. After his mother's death, Deebs sought to evict Russell. Russell sought help from the same attorney who represented him and Douglas with the estate matters. The attorney negotiated redemption with Deebs; Douglas and her husband agreed to advance the funds. In exchange, Mr. Douglas had the attorney draft a quitclaim deed from Mr. and Mrs. Russell to Mr. and Mrs. Douglas. Russell, believing that his aunt was advancing money on his behalf in an effort to stop the eviction proceedings, executed the quitclaim deed to Mr. and Mrs. Douglas. Upon receipt of the deeds, the Russells were told to vacate the premises. Russell filed suit seeking imposition of a constructive trust.

The Court found a confidential relationship existed between Russell and Douglas because Douglas had spent considerable time in Mississippi in connection with Russell's mother's illness; that Russell and Douglas had a joint lockbox; that Russell agreed Douglas would inherit another piece of his mother's property even though the will was invalid and his share of the inheritance would be diminished; that the parties shared the same attorney, who recognized that the parties had a close relationship and did not question the arrangements when asked to have the deeds prepared in favor of Douglas; and that Russell never understood that he was losing his property. *Russell*, 138 So.2d at 733.

12

Unlike both *Pitchford* and *Russell*, Tillman never had an ownership interest in the subject property. Tillman did not convey his interest to Mitchell because his only interest in the subject property was that of a renter, not an owner. (TT 6, 15) Nor did Mitchell initiate or instigate the acquisition of the property. In fact, it was Tillman who suggested that Mitchell purchase the property so that Tillman and his family could continue to live there. (TT 63) For several months, Mitchell resisted. (TT 63) When Mitchell finally agreed to purchase the property from Mrs. Cole, both Mitchell and Mrs. Cole were represented by separate attorneys. (TT 8) All agreed that Tillman and his wife would continue living on the property, which they did and continue to do so. (TT 10, 86) At the time of trial, the court found that the Tillmans had not paid any rent since April 2009 and awarded a judgment in favor of Mitchell in the amount of Four Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$4,200) representing rent from May 1, 2009 through June 1, 2010. (CR 75, 80-81)

Rather, the instant case is more similar to that of *Shumpert v. Tanner*, 332 So.2d 411 (Miss. 1976). In that case, Tanner could not purchase a house because his credit was insufficient so his future sister-in-law purchased the house. Although the case does not discuss from whom the property was purchased, the facts are clear that Tanner did not, and never had, an ownership interest in the property. Similarly to this case, Tanner claimed Shumpert purchased the home and that when his credit was "stout enough," Shumpert would convey the property to him. *Shumpert*, 332 So.2d at 411-412. The case boiled down to a "he said, she said" scenerio. The Court found that there was insufficient evidence to establish a trust and quoted the chancellor:

We may never know what the facts are, all we can depend on is what was said from the witness stand. There may be a big difference between the actual facts and what was said from the witness stand. But what was said from the witness stand was all that we have.

Shumpert, 332 So.2d at 412.

The chancellor in this case was faced with a "he said, he said" situation. Ultimately, the chancellor found that Tillman did not meet the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence facts sufficient to establish a constructive trust. Nor has Tillman shown that outside of the sibling relationship, that Tillman placed any confidence or trust upon Mitchell. Tillman also claims that a confidential relationship existed between Tillman and Mitchell because there was an "uneven level of education between the parties." *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 24. However, Tillman testified that Mitchell was not the type of person that the family went to for advice. (TT 90) Tillman has shown no overreaching on behalf of Mitchell or any abuse of the non-existent confidential relationship.

Tillman further relies on *Estate of Abernathy*, 778 So.2d 123 (Miss. 2001) in support of his claim. In *Abernathy*, John Abernathy was the executor of his mother's estate. His mother expressly provided in her will that her brothers were not to take anything under the will. Abernathy became the sole heir to his mother's estate. However, Abernathy died intestate before his mother's estate was closed. Abernathy left no spouse or children, which meant that the two brothers excluded in his mother's will would inherit the mother's estate and that of her son through intestate succession. Abernathy's cousins, the children of a third brother who predeceased the mother, filed suit seeking to impose a constructive trust on the mother's estate claiming that Abernathy held the inheritance in trust for them. The Mississippi Supreme Court found no constructive trust existed and that the focus was not on the mother's intention, but that of the son. The Court held:

While the law recognizes that there is no method known to the law by which to make people prudent ..., every person must be presumed to know the law, and the absence of some misrepresentation or illegal concealment of facts, the person must abide by the consequences of his contracts and actions ... [I]n the absence of fraud, deceit, or fiduciary relations of some kind, the court cannot relieve a person from the consequences of his acts merely because he has not acted prudently or diligently...

14

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